

Radiation dose and protection in dentistry

Tomohiro Okano*, Jaideep Sur

Department of Radiology, Showa University School of Dentistry, 2-1-1 Kita-senzoku, Ota-ku, Tokyo 145-8515, Japan

Received 18 August 2009; received in revised form 1 October 2009; accepted 10 November 2009

KEYWORDS

Dental radiology; Effective dose; Patient selection criteria; Quality assurance; Radiation protection; Diagnostic reference levels **Summary** Radiographic examinations play an essential part of dental practice. Because a certain amount of radiation is inevitably delivered to patients, it should be as low as reasonably achievable. The purposes of this article are to review the definition of the dose, the concept of the radiation protection, the measurement of the dose in dental radiography, and means to reduce dose through effective selection of patients and the management of radiographic equipment. The effective dose from some dental radiographic examinations is high enough to warrant reconsideration of means to reduce patient exposure. By using digital sensors or F-speed film, instead of D-speed film, combined with rectangular collimation instead of round collimation, dentists can reduce patient's exposure by a factor of 10 for bitewing and full-mouth radiographs. Justification and optimization of a procedure along with dose limitations are essential in clinical practice. It is prudent to establish diagnostic reference levels for dental radiography in Japan. In addition, dentists should remain informed about safety updates and availability of new equipment, supplies and techniques that would further improve the diagnostic ability of radiographs and simultaneously decrease patient exposure.

© 2009 Japanese Association for Dental Science. Published by Elsevier Ireland. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction
2.	Radiation dose and effects
	2.1. Definitions of dose used in radiation protection
	2.2. Radiation effects to human 114
3.	Measurement of dose of dental radiographic procedures
	3.1. Dosimetry and its applications
	3.2. Effective dose in diagnostic radiology
4.	Radiation protection in dental radiographic procedures 116
	4.1. Effective use of radiographic examination
	4.1.1. Dental caries
	4.1.2. Periodontal disease

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +81 3 3787 1151; fax: +81 5702 5633. *E-mail address*: tokano@dent.showa-u.ac.jp (T. Okano).

1882-7616/\$ — see front matter © 2009 Japanese Association for Dental Science. Published by Elsevier Ireland. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jdsr.2009.11.004

		4.1.3.	Periapical lesions/endodontics
		4.1.4.	Developing dentition/orthodontic therapy 118
		4.1.5.	Tooth extraction dental implant 118
	4.2.	Equipm	ent factors
		4.2.1.	Image receptor
		4.2.2.	Collimation
		4.2.3.	Tube voltage and filtration
		4.2.4.	Lead shielding
		4.2.5.	Diagnostic reference levels (DRL)
	4.3.	Protect	ion of dental professionals
5.	Summ	nary	
	Refer	ences.	

1. Introduction

Radiation is indispensable in modern medicine. The radiographic examination is one of the principal diagnostic methods used in all fields of medical services and contributes to the promotion of the health, both individually and nationally. Accordingly, a certain amount of radiation is inevitably delivered to patients and populations. In Japan the average dose to the population from diagnostic radiology may be equivalent or even more than from the natural background exposure [1,2]. The adverse effects to humans, such as radiation carcinogenesis, can be considered on the basis of a hypothesis so-called a linear no-threshold (LNT) model, which was scientifically presumed from the epidemiological studies including atomic bomb survivors of Hiroshima and Nagasaki [3]. On this assumption, the risk associated with low-level diagnostic exposures could be expected to be low but greater than zero. For this reason it is prerequisite to measure the dose to the patients in the diagnostic radiology precisely. In addition, the radiation dose to the patients should be as low as reasonably achievable, a principle known as ALARA [4]. The number of diagnostic examinations should also be taken into consideration because the risk is directly proportional to the frequency of X-ray exposure.

Dental radiographic examinations are one of the most frequently performed radiological studies in Japan. A survey in 1999 estimated that dentists were making 82 million intraoral radiographs and more than 12 million panoramic radiographs each year [5]. The effective dose delivered to patients per radiograph is low but the collective dose is significant because of the large number of radiographs made.

A unique aspect of radiological protection in medicine, which differs somewhat from other types of radiation exposure, is that the details of a medical radiographic examination are up to the discretion of the clinician. Such decisions are made on the basis of the anticipated health benefit to the patient. The decision is always made based on the professional judgment of the doctor in charge of the patient, with informed consent, which includes not only the expected benefit but also the potential risk [6]. In the case of low risk procedures such as dental and chest radiography, the degree of informed consent may be low, even where the cultural or societal factors have to be considered. The benefit of a particular examination in medical practice is qualified by consideration of evidencebased medical literature [7]. The effective usage of radiation in dental practice has been studied for many years and several guidelines have been proposed [8-11]. Dentists and other dental health care personnel should use these well-thought-out and research-proven guidelines, which benefits patients by reducing not only the radiation dose but also the cost [12].

Another aspect of protection in medicine is to consider optimization of radiographic procedures. Reduction in exposure dose to patients may be attained by proper management of equipment and the accomplishment of a quality assurance program [13]. The goal of optimization is to keep the dose "ALARA, economic and societal factors being taken into account," and is best described in medical practice as: management of the radiation dose to the patient to be commensurate with the medical purpose [6].

The purposes of this article are to review definitions of dose, the concept of radiation protection, the measurement of dose in dental radiography, and ways to reduce dose through effective use of X-ray and the management of equipment.

2. Radiation dose and effects

2.1. Definitions of dose used in radiation protection

The absorbed dose, D, is the basic physical dose quantity, and it is used for all types of ionizing radiation. It is defined as the mean energy imparted to matter of mass by ionizing radiation [14]. The SI unit of absorbed dose is J/kg and its special name is gray (Gy). The protection quantity equivalent dose in an organ or tissue, H_{T} , is defined by

$$H_T = \sum_R w_R D_{T,R}$$

where $D_{T,R}$ is the average absorbed dose in the volume of a specified organ or tissue *T*, and w_R is the radiation weighting factor for radiation *R* [14]. The values of w_R are defined largely on the basis of the relative biological effectiveness of the different radiations. The sum is performed over all types of radiations involved if an individual is exposed to more than one type of radiation. The unit of equivalent dose is J/kg and has the special name sievert (Sv). As w_R of X-ray is 1, so 1 Gy in dental radiology corresponds to 1 Sv.

To assess the probability of health detriment from low doses of ionizing radiation, the International Commission of Radiation Protection (ICRP) proposed a theoretic quantity in 1977 [4] as effective dose equivalent and finally it is known as effective dose in 1990 [15]. The effective dose, E, is defined by a weighted sum of tissue equivalent doses as:

$$E = \sum_{T} w_T \sum_{R} w_R D_{T,R}$$

where w_T is the tissue weighting factor for tissue T and $\Sigma w_T = 1$ [14]. The sum is performed over all organs or tissues considered to be sensitive to the induction of stochastic effects including cancer and heritable effects. These w_T values are chosen to represent the contributions of individual organs and tissues to overall radiation detriment from stochastic effects. The unit of effective dose is J/kg with the special name sievert (Sv). Both w_R and w_T values and the list of organs or tissues were reconsidered in ICRP 60, 1990 and were further revised in ICRP 103, 2007 Publication. As a result of the revisions the effective dose in dental radiology are estimated to be 32–422% higher because of the recent inclusion of the salivary gland as well as oral mucosa, muscle, lymphatic nodes and extrathoracic airway in the list of radiosensitive tissues [12,16].

2.2. Radiation effects to human

Adverse effects of radiation are grouped into two categories: deterministic effects and stochastic effects [4,15]. Deterministic effects are based on cell killing and are characterized by a threshold dose. Below the threshold dose there is no clinical effect. With exposures above the threshold dose the severity of the injury increases with dose.

On the other hand, stochastic effects, including cancer and heritable effects are based on damage to DNA. In this incidence the frequency of the response, but not the severity, is proportional to dose. Further, there is no-threshold or "safe" dose with stochastic effects. In the low dose range, below about 100 mSv, the ICRP adopted a scope that "it is scientifically plausible to assume that the incidence of cancer or heritable effects will rise in direct proportion to an increase in the equivalent dose in the relevant organs and tissues" [6]. They recommended as a practical system of radiological protection that it is reasonable to assume that "at doses below about 100 mSv a given increment in dose will produce a directly proportionate increment in the probability of incurring cancer or heritable effects attributable to radiation" [14] and is generally known as "linear no-threshold" or LNT model [3,17]. A study of the estimated excess risk of cancer among groups of atomic bomb survivors showed that a group receiving 5-100 mSv had significantly increased incidence of solid cancer compared with a group exposed to less than 5 mSv. The authors suggested that acute exposures above 10-50 mSv increases the risk of some cancers. However, a cancer risk in human population could not be demonstrated at doses below 10 mSv. Below this level, the risk remains hypothetic and the linear no-threshold relationship between dose and risk is considered the best practical criterion [3].

3. Measurement of dose of dental radiographic procedures

3.1. Dosimetry and its applications

Measurements of the dose absorbed in organs or tissues can be attained by using dosimeters embedded in a RANDO phantom (Alderson Research Laboratories), which is especially fabricated for radiation dosimetry in vitro [18]. The locations of dosimeters typically correspond to the organs or tissues used to estimate effective dose. In a typical measurement several dosimeters are placed in each organ or tissue, and the measured exposure values for each organ or tissue are then averaged. Several types of dosimeters including the thermoluminescence dosimeter (TLD), photoluminescence glass dosimeter, or optical stimulated luminescence (OSL) dosimeter could be used to measure the exposure [19,20]. The readings obtained by any dosimeters are compared with the "exposure" (air kerma in free air) measured by an ionization chamber. The values obtained are converted into absorbed dose in air by the use of a correction factor. From the air dose, the dose absorbed by tissues or organs is then calculated by multiplying by a factor estimated as the ratio of the mass energy absorption coefficients of air to the tissues. The mean bone marrow or skin dose was estimated in considering the distribution of bone marrow or skin in the body. With these modifications the equivalent dose can be estimated. The effective dose for each examination is then calculated using the equation previously shown, considering the tissue weighting factors listed in the ICRP Publications [4, 14, 15]

Another way to estimate absorbed dose and effective dose is to apply a computer model. A Monte Carlo system has been developed to compute dose distribution in heterogenous phantoms from external, divergent, polyenergetic photon beams in the diagnostic energy range [21,22] from the data of entrance surface dose (ESD) or dose area product (DAP) by applying conversion coefficients [23]. The estimated results of the effective dose from the measurement and the computer model were comparable [24]. Both methods can be used for estimating dose depending on available equipment. A Monte Carlo system has already used for patient dosimetry for dental radiology [25], although such method has not been widely applied to estimate effective dose [26].

Diagnostic reference levels (DRL) are exposure values that serve as standards to guide clinicians in knowing if they are overexposing their patients. DRL is a term that is defined from the third quartile (75th percentile) of the relevant dose-related quantities for a specific radiographic examination derived from large scale surveys of X-ray equipment in a country or a region [15,27]. Entrance surface dose (ESD), dose area product (DAP), dose-width product (DWP) are commonly used to establish DRL in dental radiography [28-31]. In CT study, CTDI_w, computed tomography dose index (weighted) and DLP, dose length product, which are used to represent dosimetric quantities for determining relative performance of the equipment and technique using an ionizing chamber in the standard phantom [32], can be applied to assess the effective dose and DRL [27,33,34].

3.2. Effective dose in diagnostic radiology

The goal of measuring effective dose for various radiographic examinations is to compare the radiologic risk of different modalities for a standard patient with optimal image quality. Reported effective doses for intraoral radiography are shown in Table 1. Similar data has been collected for panoramic

Table 1	Effective	dose in	intraoral	radiography	(μSv)
---------	-----------	---------	-----------	-------------	-------

Author/source	Parameters	ICRP 60 (ave./film)
Gibbs [26]	70 kV, short round cone, E-speed, 18 films	100 (5.5)
	70 kV, long rectangular cone, E-speed, 21 films	14 (0.66)
	Long round cone, E-speed, 4 bitewings	12 (3)
UNSCEAR 2000 [35] (Health-care level I)		(13)
	70 kV, Short round cone, E-speed, 2 bitewing films	4 (2)
European Commission Issue 136 [8]		(1-8.3)
Iwai et al. [5]	60 kV, 24 cm round collimation	(9.3)
White and Pharoah [36]	Long round cone, D-speed, FMX	388 (18.47) ^a
	Long round collimation, PSP or F-speed film, FMX	171 (8.14) ^a
	Long rectangular collimation, PSP or F-speed film, FMX	35 (1.6) ^a

radiography (Table 2), cone-beam dental CT (Table 3a), dental implants/jaw study using Computed Tomography (Table 3b), and medical routine conventional radiography and CT (Table 4).

The effective dose from intraoral radiography is shown for a full-mouth survey, for two or four bitewings films, or for per exposure for periapical radiography. Depending on the targeted region, the resulting dose can vary. However the 'averaged' dose for intraoral radiography can be assessed from such data, which were ranged from less than 1 to around 20 μ Sv [5,8,26,35,36], depending on the film/digital sensors used, collimation, focus skin distance and tube voltage. In the routine conditions used in Japan including E-speed film or digital sensor, short round cone, 20 cm FSD, and 60 kV in intraoral radiography, the effective dose could be around 10 μ Sv.

On the other hand, the effective dose reported in panoramic radiography is more consistent and were ranged from 4 to 30 μ Sv [5,8,35,37–41]. A value of 15 μ Sv may be the best estimate in the case of using a contemporary machine with digital sensor. This is equivalent to 2–3 days of background radiation.

For dental cone-beam CT the effective dose varied widely among the products and the size of the field of view (FOV). When a limited area is exposed, the effective dose is less than 100 μ Sv [42–44]. When the whole face is imaged or large FOV is selected, the effective dose ranges from 500 to 700 μ Sv [39,45]. These exposures are almost equivalent to the dose in the implant and the jaw study using a conventional multidetector CT [45–48] as shown in Table 3b. In comparison with general radiography [32,49], the effective dose in dental radiography is relatively low as shown in Table 4. From this

Author/source	Apparatus/parameters	ICRP 60
Danforth et al. [37] UNSCEAR 2000 [35] Health-care level I European Commission Issue 136 [8] Iwai et al. [5]	Planmeca PM 2002®: 60 kV, 4 mA, 18 s	3.85 7–14 3.85–30 10.3
Gijbels et al. [38]	Cranex tome [®] : 70 kV, 4 mA, 15 s Cranex Excel [®] : 65 kV, 6 mA, 19 s Veraviewepocs 5D [®] : 70 kV, 4 mA, 8.2 s EC Proline [®] : 64 kV, 7 mA, 18.3 s Orthoralix 9200 DDE [®] : 74 kV, 4 mA, 12 s	8.1 12.3 5.5 14.9 4.7
Ludlow et al. [39]	Sirona Orthophos XG [®] (CCD) Planmeca Promax [®] (CCD)	14.2ª 24.3ª
Gavala et al. [40]	Planmeca Promax [®] : 66 kV, 6 mA, 16 s Planmeca PM 2002 [®] : 66 kV, 8 mA, 18 s Planmeca PM 2002 [®] : 60 kV,4 mA, 18 s	17 23 12
Matsuda et al. [41]	Asahi Hyper X [®] : 78 kV, 10 mA PanoACT-1000 [®] : 80 kV, 6 mA OP 200 [®] : 66 kV, 10 mA	12.76 ^b 6.66 ^b 8.89 ^b

Table 2 Effective dose in panoramic radiography (µSv).

^a ICRP 103, 2007.

^b ICRP 103, 2007 excluding reminder tissues.

Table 3aEffective dose in cone beam dental CT (μ Sv).			
Author/source	ICRP 60	ICRP 103	
Tsiklakis et al. [42]	NewTom QRDVT 9000 [®] : 110 kV, 3.4 mA	35	
Ludlow et al. [39]	NewTom 3G [®] : large FOV, 110 kV, 1.1–2.0 mA CB MercuRay [®] : large FOV, 100 kV, 10 mA Illuma [®] : large FOV, 120 kV, 3.4 mA Galileos [®] : medium FOV, 85 kV, 5 mA Promax 3D [®] : small FOV, 84 kV, 16 mA PreXion 3D [®] : small FOV, 90 kV, 4 mA	42 464 50 28 203 66	68 569 98 70 652 189
Hirsch et al. [43]	3D Accuitomo [®] : 6×6 cm, 80 kV, 4 mA 3D Accuitomo [®] : 4×4 cm, 80 kV, 4 mA Veraviewepocs $3D^{\mathbb{B}}$: 8×4 cm, 80 kV, 4 mA Veraviewepocs $3D^{\mathbb{R}}$: 4×4 cm, 80 kV, 4 mA		43.27 ^a 20.02 ^a 39.92 ^a 30.24 ^a
Okano et al. [45]	3D Accuitomo [®] : 6 × 6 cm, 80 kV, 5 mA 3D Accuitomo [®] : 4 × 4 cm, 80 kV, 5 mA CB MercuRay [®] : FOV: 102.4 mm in diameter, 120 kV, 15 mA	66.08 31.05 454	101.46 ^b 49.92 ^b 510.6 ^b
Roberts et al. [44]	i-CAT [®] , 120 kV, 3—8 mA: Full FOV (head) 13 cm mandible and maxilla 6 cm mandible 6 cm maxilla 6 cm mandible (high resolution) 6 cm maxilla (high resolution)	92.8 39.5 23.9 9.7 47.2 18.5	182.1 110.5 75.3 36.5 148.5 68.3

^a ICRP 2005 draft.

^b ICRP 2007 excluding reminder tissues.

data the individual risks in dental radiography can be considered to be low.

Young children are more sensitive to ionizing radiation than the adults [8,23]. The age-at-exposure effect is shown by a 20% decrease in attained-age-specific excess relative risks (ERRs) per decade increase in age at exposure [50,51]. Also the risk for females is always relatively higher than for males because of differences in size and position of radiosensitive organs [8,23].

4. Radiation protection in dental radiographic procedures

4.1. Effective use of radiographic examination

Guidelines for selecting patients for dental radiographic examinations have been developed to serve as an adjunct to the dentist's professional judgment of how to best use diagnostic imaging for their patients. Such guidelines are usually intended to serve as a resource for practitioner, because an individual dentist is in the best position to make a individual judgment because of their knowledge of the patient [6]. The concept of radiographic justification and the effective use of X-ray in dental practice has well described in European guidelines [8], and American Dental Association guidelines [9]. These guidelines mainly suggest that

(1) All X-ray examinations must be justified on an individual patient basis by demonstrating that the benefits to the patient outweigh the potential detriment. The anticipated benefits are that the X-ray examination is likely to add new information to aid the patient's management,

Author/source	Apparatus/parameters	ICRP 60	ICRP 103
Ludlow et al. [39] Ohman et al. [46] Silva et al. [47]	Somatom Sensation 64 MDCT [®] : 120 kV, 90 mA, 120 mm ^a Somatom Plus 4 Volume Zoom [®] : 120 kV, 100 mA, 52 mm ^a Somatom Sensation 16 [®] : 120 kV, 90 mA, 100 mm ^a	453	860 250 ^b 429.7 ^b
Loubele et al. [48]	Somatom Sensation 16 [®] : 120 kV, 90 mA, 63 mm ^a Philips Mx8000IDT [®] : 120 kV, 140 mA, 60 mm ^a		474 541
Okano et al. [45]	HiSpeed QX/i $^{\oplus}$: 120 kV, 100 mA, 77 mm a	595.65	768.88 ^c
a Course Lourseth			

Table 3b Effective dose in CT for dental implant/jaw study (μ Sv).

Scan length.

^b ICRP 2005 draft.

^c ICRP 2007 excluding reminder tissues.

Table 4 Typical effective dose (E) of routine conventional radiography and computed tomography (mSv).

Diagnostic procedure	Effective dose		
	ICRP 87 [32]	Mettler et al. [49]	
Conventional X-ray procedure			
Skull	0.07	0.1 (0.03-0.22)	
Chest (single PA film)	0.02	0.02 (0.007-0.50)	
Abdomen	1	0.7 (0.04–1.1)	
Barium enema	7	8 ^a (2.0–18.0)	
Computed tomography			
Head	2	2 (0.9–4.0)	
Chest	8	7 (4.0–18.0)	
Abdomen	10	8 (3.5–25)	
Pelvis	10	6 (3.3–10)	
3			

Includes fluoroscopy.

- (2) No radiographs should be made until a history and clinical examination has been performed. 'Routine radiography' is unacceptable practice, and
- (3) When referring a patient for a radiographic examination, the dentist should supply sufficient clinical information (based upon a history and clinical examination) to allow the practitioner taking clinical responsibility for the Xray exposure to perform the justification process.

As the development and progress of many oral diseases are associated with the patient's age or development stage, such factors should be taken in consideration in regular dental practice. The development stage is categorized into five in the US guideline [9]; child with primary dentition; child with transitional dentition; adolescent with permanent dentition, adults with dentate, or partially edentulous, and totally edentulous adult. Additionally the time of the visit such as new or recall should also be considered.

These guidelines should be used by dentists after an evaluation of the patient's needs that includes a health history review, a clinical dental history assessment, a clinical examination and an evaluation of susceptibility to dental diseases [9]. Studies have shown that 43% periapical radio-graphs and 42% panoramic radiographs are practiced as 'routine screening' of new patients without any clinical findings to support such radiographic examinations [9,52] and thereby the collective dose can be reduced from medical radiography by 30% by avoiding self-referrals or self-defensive medicine [53,54].

4.1.1. Dental caries

Similar guidelines are proposed by both the US and EC [8,9]. "Recommendations" shown in the EC are as follows:

- (1) Prescription of bitewing radiographs for caries diagnosis should be based on caries risk assessment. Intervals between subsequent bitewing radiographic examinations must be reassessed for each new period, as individuals can move in and out of caries risk categories with time.
- (2) It is recommended that when children are designated as high caries risk, they should have 6-monthly posterior bitewing radiographs taken, and when children are designated as moderate caries risk, they should have

annual posterior bitewing radiographs. These should continue until no new or active lesions are apparent and the individual has entered a lower risk category. In addition radiography for caries diagnosis in low caries risk children should take into account population prevalence of caries, and intervals of 12–18 months (deciduous dentition) or 24 months (permanent dentition) may be used, although longer intervals may be appropriate where there is continuing low caries risk.

(3) It is recommended that adults designated as high caries risk have posterior bitewing radiographs made at 6month intervals, and adults designated as moderate caries risk have annual posterior bitewing radiographs made until no new or active lesions are apparent and the individual has entered another risk category. In addition, it is recommended that adults designated as low caries risk have posterior bitewing radiographs made at approximately 24-month intervals. More extended intervals may be used where there is continuing low caries risk.

Cone-beam CT (CBCT) has a similar accuracy to conventional radiography for the detection of caries in posterior teeth *in vitro* [55]. In addition, the artifacts in CBCT from existing metallic restorations could reduce the accuracy of caries diagnosis. Therefore, CBCT is not recommended in detection of caries at this moment.

4.1.2. Periodontal disease

Periodontal diseases can be diagnosed by a clinical examination. Radiographs may be a useful supplement to further determine and document the extent of alveolar bone loss. The EC guidelines [8] suggested the following recommendations.

- (1) Radiographs should be used in the management of periodontal disease if they are likely to provide additional information that could potentially change patient management and prognosis.
- (2) There is insufficient evidence to propose robust guidelines on choice of radiography for periodontal diagnosis and treatment, but existing radiographs e.g. bitewing radiographs taken for caries diagnosis should be used in the first instance.

Although, CBCT accurately depict infra-bony defects and furcation [56], such benefits on management and treatment outcome has not been analyzed quantitatively [10].

4.1.3. Periapical lesions/endodontics

A periapical radiograph can provide essential information about pulp and root canal anatomy which cannot be obtained in any other way [8]. It also provides information around root apex that may influence the selection of treatment options. The radiographs play an important role in working length estimation and post-operative assessment in root filling and periapical condition.

CBCT may have several valuable applications in identifying periapical pathosis [57] thus CBCT may be considered for periapical assessment, in selected cases, when conventional radiographs give a negative finding and when there are contradictory positive clinical signs and symptoms [10].

4.1.4. Developing dentition/orthodontic therapy

The use of cephalometric radiography coupled with panoramic radiography has been a routine practice in orthodontics. The cephalometric radiography is also requested for selected patients in certain periods during the treatment.

In addition the effect of radiographs on changing orthodontic diagnosis and treatment plans is ranging from 16% to 37% [8]. On the EC guidelines the recommendation is as follows, "Specialist guidelines on orthodontic radiography should be consulted as an aid to justification in the management of the developing dentition in children" can be followed by the clinician.

An unknown percentage of cephalograms may be obtained by orthodontists in Japan for defensive medicine. Because the figures could not be estimated, further study is required.

A large volume CBCT can be utilized in orthodontics to evaluate the shape and function of the maxillofacial complex. A robust guidance on clinical selection for large volume CBCT in orthodontics, based upon quantification of benefits to patient outcome [10].

4.1.5. Tooth extraction dental implant

Panoramic radiography is most appropriate radiographic examination for most tooth removal because it can reveal the relationship of third molars to important anatomical structures such as the mandibular canal or maxillary sinus. Where conventional radiographs suggest a close relationship between a mandibular third molar and the inferior alveolar canal, and when a decision to perform surgical removal has been made, CBCT is justified [10].

CBCT may also be justified for pre-surgical assessment of an impacted tooth in selected cases where conventional radiographs fail to provide the information required [10].

The goal of selection criteria in implant radiography is to identify the most appropriate imaging procedure for each stage of patient care. A radiologic guideline for implant was proposed by the Japanese Society for Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology in 2007 and was accepted by Japan Council for Quality Health Care [58]. For maxillofacial implant planning, where cross-sectional imaging is judged to be necessary, CBCT can be used as an alternative imaging modalities to conventional CT [10].

4.2. Equipment factors

4.2.1. Image receptor

In conventional intraoral radiography, the fastest available films consistent with satisfactory diagnostic results should be used [8]. Intraoral films of ISO speed groups E or F are recommended because they significantly reduce patient dose by more than 50% compared with D-speed films [8,9,59,60].

Regarding conventional extra-oral radiography, the fastest available rare-earth intensifying screen/film combination consistent with satisfactory diagnostic results should be used [8]. The speed of the system should be at least 400 [8,61], as it requires only half the dose of a 200-speed system [62,63]. Modern rare-earth screens up to 600-speed may further reduce the dose substantially.

Digital image receptors encompass a number of different technologies and come in many different sizes and shapes. Currently, the most useful distinction is that between two main technologies: solid-state technology i.e. charged-coupled device based sensor (CCD) and photostimulable phosphor technology (PSP). In intraoral CCD radiography, the radiation dose is almost reduced by 50% when compared with E-speed film [60,61]. According to a recent study by Farrier et al., the mean exposure time and radiation surface dose for the PSP is greater than that for the CCD system by a factor of 2.45 [64] and thus is comparable to E/F-speed film. Studies reported a dose reduction of about 43% in digital panoramic sensor with the conventional panoramic system [65].

CBCT employed three types of imaging receptors namely image intensifiers tube (IIT), charged-coupled device (CCD) and Flat Panel Detectors (FPD). According to Baba et al., at a given equal detector pitch, reconstructed images obtained with a FPD exhibit less noise than those obtained with the IIT at a constant dose levels [66]. The image quality from different image receptors and radiation dose of CBCT scanners has not yet been reported.

4.2.2. Collimation

Reducing the size of the X-ray beam to the minimum size needed to image the object of interest is an obvious means of limiting dose to patients [8] and improves image quality [36] by reducing scatter radiation. Traditionally, round collimation is used for intraoral radiography. A circular collimation of 6 cm of diameter is approximately 135% larger in area than a conventional periapical dental film of size No. 2, indicating considerable scope for further collimation [67]. As rectangular collimator decreases the radiation dose by up to fivefold as compared with a short circular one [68-70], so radiographic equipment should equipped with rectangular collimation for periapical and bitewing radiographs [61]. As an X-ray beam is divergent, increasing this distance reduces the divergence within the patient and therefore reduces the volume irradiated. Two standard focal source-to-skin distance are used for intraoral radiography are 20 cm (8 inch) and 40 cm (16 inch). The use of rectangular long collimation results in 29% reduction to the lens of the eye [68] and 38-45% reduction in thyroid exposure [36].

Panoramic system with automatic selection of beam limitation or field size program especially for children can reduce the exposed area of X-ray by 27-45% [70].

CBCT equipment should offer a choice of volume sizes i.e. FOV and examinations must use the smallest FOV that is compatible with the clinical situation if this provides less radiation dose to the patient [11].

4.2.3. Tube voltage and filtration

An important consideration with dental radiography is the Xray spectral sensitivity of dental X-ray film and the image quality at different kilovoltages [8]. Increasing the kilovoltage much beyond 70 kVp results in a spectrum ill matched to the optimal sensitivity of dental film [70]. Use of 60–70 kVp for intraoral radiography is considered to be a reasonable choice in terms of limiting dose and diagnostic efficacy [8].

X-ray beam filters preferentially remove lower energy Xray photons from the beam. As low-energy photons have little penetrating power, they are absorbed mainly by the patient and contribute nothing to the information on the image. Thus filtration is invaluable as a mean of reducing skin doses to patients. Filtration using aluminum is an established component of dental X-ray equipment [8]. Practically, 1.5 mm Al total filtration for X-ray equipment operating at 60–70 kVp and with 2.5 mm Al total filtration when operating above 70 kVp is advised [36] and is usually followed by the manufacturers.

4.2.4. Lead shielding

The thyroid gland, one of the most radiosensitive organs in the head and neck region, is frequently exposed to scattered radiation and occasionally to primary beam during dental radiography [69]. Thyroid skin exposure can be reduced by 33-84% in adults and 63-92% in children by using thyroid shield [70]. Therefore, thyroid shielding can be applied to patients especially children as an adjunct to the use of rectangular collimation and paralleling technique. As the gonadal doses and even to embryo are not significant in dental radiography, the use of lead aprons has been recommended on the grounds of patient reassurance [61,71,72].

4.2.5. Diagnostic reference levels (DRL)

The term DRL was first introduced by ICRP in 1996 [15]. The objective of DRL is to control of medical radiation exposure to a level commensurate with the clinical purpose of a medical imaging task [73]. The use of DRLs is part of the optimization process of radiation protection, in that it identifies practices that are in need of corrective action, resulting in dose reduction. In diagnostic radiology, reference levels usually have been derived from distributions of dosimetric guantities for patients observed in practice in the relevant region or country. DRLs should be used by regional, national and local authorized bodies [27,33]. Such reference values provide a means for radiologists and medical physicists in the imaging community to compare radiation exposure levels at their facilities with those at facilities across the nation, while bearing in mind that the comparative data are the state-of-the practice data as opposed to state-ofthe-art data [74]. Having an average dose below a relevant DRL gives some confirmation that patient doses in a particular facility are reasonable in line with other facilities. However, doses consistently above a DRL would definitely indicate that patient dose is not in line with the ALARA principle and effective action should be taken to reduce the dose. Therefore, implementation and use of DRL is recognized as an efficient and powerful tool in optimization of diagnostic radiology.

In 1999 the National Radiation Protection Board (NRPB) in the UK recommended the adoption of reference doses of 4 mGy (patient entrance dose) for an adult mandibular molar intraoral radiograph and 65 mGy mm (dose-width product) for an adult panoramic radiograph [28]. In Germany DRL for intraoral radiography is calculated by DAP (dose area product) measurements and is ranged between 26.2 and 87 mGy cm² [29] whereas DRLs for panoramic imaging based on DAP calculations for 4 different settings are 101, 87, 84 and 75 mGy cm² for 'large adult', 'adult male', 'adult female' and 'child' respectively [30]. According to a preliminary study in Japan, the DRLs in 54% and 57% of the 28 surveyed dental offices for intraoral and panoramic radiography respectively were within the recommended limit when compared to the DRLs set in UK [75].

Further work needs to be carried out to establish a measurement protocol (most probably DAP) for CBCT and to undertake further field measurements so that DRL can be established [10]. Manufactures of CBCT equipment should provide a DAP measurement after each exposure [10].

4.3. Protection of dental professionals

Though dental professionals receive low exposure to X-radiation, operator protection measures are essential to minimize occupational exposure to ionizing radiation. Operator protection measures include the implementation of a radiation protection program, recommendations for personal dosimeters and the use of barrier shielding [9,76].

5. Summary

Radiation dose reduction in dental radiography continues to be a clinical and ethical concern. Dental radiographic selection criteria and guidelines have been in place for more than two decades, yet compliance has been historically low. Although dental radiography contributes enormous diagnostic benefit to patients, the increased effective doses, especially from CBCT examinations, are high enough to warrant reconsideration of means to reduce patient's exposure. By using digital sensors or F-speed film instead of D-speed film, combined with rectangular collimation instead of round collimation, dentists can reduce patient's exposure by a factor of 10 for bitewing and full-mouth radiographs. Justification and optimization of a procedure along with dose limitations are absolutely essential in clinical practice. It is prudent to establish diagnostic reference levels for dental radiography in Japan. In addition, dentists should remain informed about safety updates and availability of new equipment, supplies and techniques that would further improve the diagnostic ability of radiographs and decrease exposure to patients.

References

 Nishizawa K, Matsumoto M, Iwai K, Maruyama T. Survey of CT practice in Japan and collective effective dose estimation. Nippon Acta Radiol 2004;64:151–8 (in Japanese with English abstract).

- [2] Maruyama T, Kumamoto Y, Noda Y, Iwai K, Mase N, Nishizawa K, et al. Determinations of organ or tissue doses and collective effective dose equivalent from diagnostic x-ray examinations in Japan. Radiat Prot Dosimetry 1992;43:213–6.
- [3] Brenner DJ, Doll R, Goodhead DT, Hall EJ, Land CE, Little JB, et al. Cancer risks attributable to low doses of ionizing radiation: assessing what we really know. PNAS 2003;100: 13761–6.
- [4] International Commission on Radiological Protection: Recommendations of the ICRP Publication 26. Oxford: Pergamon Press; 1977.
- [5] Iwai K, Nishizawa K, Maruyama T, Satomi C, Kawashima S, Hashimoto K. Nationwide survey of dental radiographic examination and estimation of collective effective dose in Japan, 1999. Dent Radiol 2005;45:132–42 (in Japanese with English abstract).
- [6] International Commission on Radiological Protection: Radiological Protection in Medicine. Ann ICRP. Publication 105. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2008.
- [7] Montori VM, Guyatt GH. Progress in evidence-based medicine. JAMA 2008;300:1814–6.
- [8] European Commission. Radiation Protection 136. European guidelines on radiation protection in dental radiology. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the EC; 2004. http://ec. europa.eu/energy/nuclear/radioprotection/publication/doc/ 136_en.pdf.
- [9] American Dental Association Council on Scientific Affairs: The use of dental radiographs. Update and recommendations. J Am Dent Assoc 2006;137:1304–12.
- [10] SEDENTEXCT. Radiation protection: Cone beam CT for dental and maxillofacial radiology, Provisional guidelines; 2009. http://www.sedentexct.eu/basicprinciples.
- [11] Horner K, Islam M, Flygare L, Tsiklakis K, Whaites E. Basic principles for use of dental cone beam computed tomography: consensus guidelines of the European Academy of Dental and Maxillofacial Radiology. Dentomaxillofac Radiol 2009;38:187– 95.
- [12] Kim IH, Mupparapu M. Dental radiographic guidelines: a review. Quintessence Int 2009;40:389–98.
- [13] Lipoti JA. Exposure reduction through quality assurance for diagnostic X-ray procedures. Health Phys 2008;95:577–85.
- [14] International Commission on Radiological Protection: The 2007 Recommendations of the International Commission on Radiological Protection. Ann ICRP. Publication 103. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2007.
- [15] International Commission on Radiological Protection. ICRP 1990 recommendations of the ICRP. Ann ICRP. Publication 60. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 1990.
- [16] Ludlow JB, Davies-Ludlow LE, White SC. Patient risk related to common dental radiographic examinations: the impact of 2007 International Commission on Radiological Protection recommendations regarding dose calculation. J Am Dent Assoc 2008;139:1237–43.
- [17] Wall BF, Kendall GM, Edwards AA, Bouffler S, Muirhead CR, Meara JR. What are the risks from medical X-rays and other low dose radiation? Br J Radiol 2006;79:285–94.
- [18] Golikov VY, Nikitin VV. Estimation of the mean organ doses and the effective dose equivalent from Rando phantom measurements. Health Phys 1989;56:111-5.
- [19] Frame PW. A history of radiation detection instrumentation. Health Phys 2005;88:613–37.
- [20] Yasuda H, Takami M, Ishidoya T. Changes in optical transmission caused by gamma ray induced coloring in photoluminescence dosimeter. Health Phys 2006;90:565–8.
- [21] Raeside DE. Monte Carlo principles and applications. Phys Med Biol 1976;21:181–97.
- [22] McCollough CH, Schueler BA. Calculation of effective dose. Med Phys 2000;27:828–37.

- [23] Martin CJ. Effective dose: how should it be applied to medical exposures? Br J Radiol 2007;80:639–47.
- [24] Struelens L, Vanhavere F, Smans K. Experimental validation of Monte Carlo calculations with a voxelized Rando-Alderson phantom: a study on influence parameters. Phys Med Biol 2008;53: 5831–44.
- [25] Pujol A, Gibbs SJ. A Monte Carlo method for patient dosimetry from dental X-ray. Dentomaxillofac Radiol 1982;11:25–33.
- [26] Gibbs SJ. Effective dose equivalent and effective dose: comparison for common projections in oral and maxillofacial radiology. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2000;90:538-45.
- [27] European Commission. Guidance on diagnostic reference levels (DRLs) for medical exposures. Radiation Protection 109. Luxembourg 1999. http://ec.europa.eu/energy/nuclear/radiation_ protection/doc/publication/109_en.pdf.
- [28] Napier D. Reference doses for dental radiography. Br Dent J 1999;186:392-6.
- [29] Helmrot E, Carlsson GA. Measurement of radiation dose in dental radiology. Radiat Prot Dosimetry 2005;114:168–71.
- [30] Poppe B, Looe HK, Pfaffenberger A, Chofor N, Eenboom F, Sering M. Dose-area product measurements in panoramic dental radiology. Radiat Prot Dosimetry 2007;123:131-4.
- [31] Poppe B, Looe HK, Pfaffenberger A, Eenboom F, Chofor N, Sering M, et al. Radiation exposure and dose evaluation in intraoral dental radiology. Radiat Prot Dosimetry 2007;123:262-7.
- [32] International Commission on Radiological Protection. Managing patient dose in computed tomography. Ann ICRP. Publication 87. Oxford: Pergamon; 2000.
- [33] International Commission on Radiation Protection. Diagnostic reference levels in medical imaging: review and additional advice. ICRP; 2001.
- [34] McNitt-Gray MF. Radiation dose in CT. Radiographics 2002;22: 1541–53.
- [35] Sources and effects of ionizing radiation: United Nations Scientific Committee on the effects of Atomic Radiation (UNSCEAR 2000), United Nations, New York; 2000.
- [36] White SC, Pharoah MJ. Oral radiology: principles and interpretation, 6th ed., St. Louis: Mosby Elsevier; 2009.
- [37] Danforth RA, Clark DE, Angeles L, Linda L. Effective dose from radiation absorbed during a panoramic examination with a new generation machine. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Path Oral Radiol Endod 2000;89:236–43.
- [38] Gijbels F, Jacobs R, Bogaerts R, Debaveye D, Verlinden S, Sanderink G. Dosimetry of digital panoramic imaging. Part I. Patient exposure. Dentomaxillofac Radiol 2005;34:145–9.
- [39] Ludlow JB, Ivanovic M, Hill C. Comparative dosimetry of dental CBCT devices and 64 slice CT for oral and maxillofacial radiology. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2008;106:106–14.
- [40] Gavala S, Donta C, Tsiklakis K, Boziari A, Kamenopoulou V, Stamatakis HC. Radiation dose reduction in direct digital panoramic radiography. Eur J Radiol 2009;71:42–8.
- [41] Matsuda T, Okano T, Endo A, Katoh T, Kaneko N, Harata Y, et al. An optically-stimulated luminescence dosimeter to measure an organ dose in diagnostic radiology. In: Programme and Abstract Book, 17th International Congress of Dentomaxillofacial Radiology. 2009. p. 133.
- [42] Tsiklakis K, Donta C, Gavala S, Karayianni K, Kamenopoulou V, Hourdakis CJ. Dose reduction in maxillofacial imaging using low dose cone beam CT. Eur J Radiol 2005;56:413–7.
- [43] Hirsch E, Wolf U, Heinicke, Silva MAG. Dosimetry of the cone beam computed tomography veraviewepocs 3D compared with the 3D Accuitomo in different fields of view. Dentomaxillofac Radiol 2008;37:268–73.
- [44] Roberts JA, Drage NA, Davies J, Thomas DW. Effective dose from cone beam CT examinations in dentistry. Br J Radiol 2009;82: 35–40.

- [45] Okano T, Harata Y, Sugihara Y, Sakaino R, Tsuchida R, Iwai K, et al. Absorbed and effective doses from cone beam volumetric imaging for implant planning. Dentomaxillofac Radiol 2009;38:79–85.
- [46] Ohman A, Kull L, Andersson J, Flygare L. Radiation doses in examination of lower third molars with computed tomography and conventional radiography. Dentomaxillofac Radiol 2008;37:445–52.
- [47] Silva MAG, Wolf U, Heinicke F, Bumann A, Visser H, Hirsch E. Cone-beam computed tomography for routine orthodontic treatment planning: a radiation dose evaluation. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2008;133:640.e1–5.
- [48] Loubele M, Bogaerts R, Dijck EV, Pauwels R, Vanheusden S, Suetens P, et al. Comparison between effective radiation dose of CBCT and MSCT scanners for dentomaxillofacial applications. Eur J Radiol 2009;71:461–8.
- [49] Mettler FA, Huda W, Yoshizumi TT, Mahesh M. Effective doses in radiology and diagnostic nuclear medicine: a catalog. Radiology 2008;248:254–63.
- [50] Preston DL, Pierce DA, Shimizu Y, Ron E, Mabuchi K. Doseresponse and temporal patterns of radiation-associated solid cancer risks. Health Phys 2003;85:43–6.
- [51] Sadetzki S, Mandelzweig L. Childhood exposure to external ionizing radiation and solid cancer risk. Br J Cancer 2009;100:1021–5.
- [52] Rushton VE, Horner K, Worthington HV. Aspects of panoramic radiography in general dental practice. Br Dent J 1999;186: 342-4.
- [53] Martinez Beneyto Y, Alcaraz Banos M, Perez Lajarin L, Rushton VE. Clinical justification of dental radiology in adult patients: a review of the literature. Med Oral Pathol Oral Cir Bucal 2007;12:E244–251.
- [54] Schauer DA, Linton OW. NCRP report no. 160, lonizing radiation exposure of the population of the United States, medical exposure—are we doing less with more, and is there a role for health physicists? Health Phys 2009;97:1–5.
- [55] Tsuchida R, Araki K, Okano T. Evaluation of a limited cone-beam volumetric imaging system: comparison with film radiography in detecting incipient proximal caries. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2007;104:412–6.
- [56] Misch KA, Yi ES, Sarment DP. Accuracy of cone beam computed tomography for periodontal defect measurements. J Periodontol 2006;77:1261–6.
- [57] Estrela C, Bueno MR, Leles CR, Azevedo B, Azevedo JR. Accuracy of cone beam computed tomography and panoramic and periapical radiography for detection of apical periodontitis. J Endod 2008;34:273–9.
- [58] Hayashi T, Sano T, Shoji N, Taguchi A, Chikui T, Nakayama E, et al. Guidelines for dental implant imaging produced by a committee on clinical practice guidelines of the Japanese Society for Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology. In: Congress Program and Scientific Proceedings. The 7th Asian Congress of Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology; 2008.p. 91. http://minds.jcqhc. or.jp/stc/0060/1/0060_G0000166_GL.html (in Japanese).

- [59] Syriopoulos K, Velders XL, Sanderink GCH, van der Stelt PF. Sensitometric and clinical evaluation of a new F-speed dental Xray film. Dentomaxillofac Radiol 2001;30:40–4.
- [60] Alcaraz M, Parra C, Martinez Beneyto Y, Velasco E, Canteras M. Is it true that the radiation dose to which patients are exposed has decreased with modern radiographic films? Dentomaxillofac Radiol 2009;38:92–7.
- [61] White SC, Heslop EW, Hollender LG, Mosier KM, Ruprecht A, Shrout MK. Parameters of radiologic care: an official report of the American Academy of oral and maxillofacial radiology. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2001;91:498–511.
- [62] Farajollahi AR, Sutton D. Evaluation of a new ultraviolet-emitting rare-earth film-screen combination. Br J Radiol 1997;70:629–34.
- [63] Parry RA, Glaze SA, Archer BR. Typical patient radiation doses in diagnostic radiology. Radiographics 1999;19:1289–302.
- [64] Farrier SL, Drage NA, Newcombe RG, Hayes SJ, Dummer PMH. A comparative study of image quality and radiation exposure for dental radiographs produced using a charge-coupled device and a phosphor plate system. Int Endod J 2009;42:900–7.
- [65] Dula K, Sanderink G, van der Stelt PF, Mini R, Buser D. Effects of dose reduction on the detectability of standardized radiolucent lesions in digital panoramic radiography. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 1998;86:227–33.
- [66] Baba R, Ueda K, Okabe M. Using a flat-panel detector in high resolution cone beam CT for dental imaging. Dentomaxillofac Radiol 2004;33:285–90.
- [67] Horner K, Hirschmann PN. Dose reduction in dental radiography. J Dent 1990;18:171–84.
- [68] Kircos LT, Angin LL, Lortan L. Order of magnitude dose reduction in intraoral radiography. J Am Dent Assoc 1987;114:344–7.
- [69] Freeman JP, Brand JW. Radiation doses of commonly used dental radiographic surveys. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 1994;77: 285–9.
- [70] Horner K. Radiation protection in dental radiology. Br J Radiol 1994;67:1041–9.
- [71] Sikorski PA, Taylor KW. The effectiveness of the thyroid shield in dental radiology. Oral Surg 1984;58:225–36.
- [72] Whaites E. Essentials of dental radiography and radiology, 3rd ed., Edinburgh: Churchill Livingston; 2002.
- [73] Rosenstein M. Diagnostic reference levels for medical exposure of patients: ICRP guidance and related ICRU quantities. Health Phys 2008;95:528–34.
- [74] Gray JE, Archer BR, Butler PF, Hobbs BB, Mettler FA, Pizzutiello RJ, et al. Reference values for diagnostic radiology: application and impact. Radiology 2005;235:354–8.
- [75] Sato K, Sakaino R, Harata Y, Nishikawa K, Kobayashi I, Yosue T, et al. A survey of patient dose in intraoral and panoramic radiography at general dental offices. In: Congress Program and Scientific Proceedings. The 7th Asian Congress of Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology; 2008.p. 132.
- [76] National Council for Radiation Protection and Measurements. NCRP report no. 145, Radiation protection in dentistry. Bethesda, MD: National Council for Radiation Protection and Measurements; 2003.